STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

03-10-2011

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2008AP2759-CR (Kenosha County Case No. 07CF421)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL H. HANSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Kenosha County, The Honorable Wilbur W. Warren, III, Circuit Judge, Presiding

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the evidence was sufficient to convict Hanson of felony fleeing in violation of Wis. Stat. §346.04(3).

The circuit court and the Court of Appeals both held that the evidence was sufficient for conviction.

2. Whether the circuit court committed reversible error by excluding evidence of Officer Klinkhammer's reputation in the community as being confrontational, aggressive, and hot-tempered;

The circuit court denied Hanson's motion to admit the character evidence and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

3. Whether a new trial is appropriate in the interests of justice under Wis. Stat. §751.06 on the grounds that the real controversy was not fully tried given that the parties, the trial court, and the jury did not have the benefit of this Court's interpretation of the "willful and wanton disregard" element of felony fleeing under Wis. Stat. §346.04(3).

The lower courts did not address whether this Court should exercise its discretion under §751.06. The Court of Appeals did decline to exercise its own discretion to order a new trial on this grounds under Wis. Stat. §752.35.

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2008AP2759-CR (Kenosha County Case No. 07CF421)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL H. HANSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The state originally charged Daniel Hanson with one count of misdemeanor fleeing in violation of Wis. Stat. §346.04(2t) and two counts of obstructing an officer in violation of Wis. Stat. §946.41. *State of Wisconsin vs. Daniel H. Hanson*, Kenosha County Case Number 2006CM001359. However, when Hanson refused to plead, the state dismissed the misdemeanor complaint and recharged the case, raising the fleeing to a felony. (R38:3-4; R39:234-35; R1).

The charges arose from a disagreement after Kenosha County Sheriff's Deputy Eric Klinkhammer pulled Hanson over for speeding. After Klinkhammer twice pulled out his baton and then chased and grabbed Hanson, ripping Hanson's shirt, Hanson feared for his safety. He therefore drove off and immediately called 911 for the location of the nearest police station where he could safely surrender himself to "cool[er] heads."

After one day of testimony, the jury rejected Hanson's claim of self-defense and convicted him as charged (R40:100-01). On Septem-

ber 11, 2008, the circuit court, Hon. Wilbur W. Warren, III, presiding, sentenced Hanson to a fine of \$1,245 on the fleeing count and 60 days concurrent jail time with Huber release on the two obstructing counts (R28). The court stayed all sentences pending this appeal (*id*.).

Hanson appealed to the Court of Appeals, challenging the sufficiency of the evidence on the felony fleeing charge and seeking a new trial in the interests of justice on all three counts due to cumulative effect of several alleged errors. On October 6, 2010, the Court of Appeals issued its decision affirming the convictions (App. 1-15).

By Order dated February 8, 2011, this Court granted Hanson's petition for review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Like a modern day *Rashomon*, the specific "facts" in this matter turn on which of the various witnesses is speaking and, in some instances, when.

On June 29, 2006, on or about 10:00 a.m., Deputy Eric Klinkhammer of the Kenosha County Sheriff's Department was monitoring traffic on I-94 (R39:38). Klinkhammer had a "ride-along" with him that day. Ms. Randi Derby was an intern at the Kenosha County Sheriff's Department who wanted a career in law enforcement. (R39:39-40).

Klinkhammer decided to stop a red Ford Mustang driven by Daniel H. Hanson (R39:40-42). Klinkhammer did not initiate the traffic stop of Hanson's vehicle by activating his lights. Rather, he pulled next to Hanson's vehicle and motioned with his hand for him to pull over. (R39:41). As Hanson explained it at trial, Klinkhammer drove along beside him for about three minutes before "forcefully" gesturing for him to pull over, which he did immediately (*id*.:207, 232).

It is unclear whether Klinkhammer later activated his lights as they both pulled over. He initially testified that he activated his lights after Hanson began to pull over (R39:42). Hanson, however, testified that he was stopped only by the deputy's hand motion (R39:205, 207). After both vehicles came to a complete stop, Hanson exited his vehicle with his driver's license in hand (R39:43, 63). Klinkhammer indicated that he used a PA microphone to tell Hanson to get back in his car (R39:43). Ms. Derby's initial statement on this case did not reference any use of a PA system (R39:123). At trial, however, she said that Klinkhammer used it and that perhaps Hanson did not hear the PA because of the traffic (R39:105). Hanson testified that Deputy Klinkhammer did not use a PA system (R39:229).

All parties agreed that Klinkhammer then exited the squad car and approached Hanson telling him to get back into his car (R39:46, 105, 206). Klinkhammer testified that he did so because "I-94 is a dangerous place. When I was a younger deputy, we had an officer get hit who had to retire." (R39:44). Moments later, Klinkhammer again noted that "we've all seen the videos on Cops and America's Video's [sic] and all that of cops getting struck and killed because they don't approach on [the passenger side of a stopped vehicle.]" (R39:49). Klinkhammer continued this theme on cross-examination, noting that "[t]here's no routine traffic stop. Deputy Fabiano was killed by a guy with a gun." (R39:65).

Klinkhammer approached Hanson and the stories again diverge. Klinkhammer stated that Hanson was "acting very bizarre," e.g., yelling and screaming, flailing his arms stating that "I was taking his rights away and that he didn't want to be there and he didn't want to deal with me." (R39:46, 47).

Klinkhammer responded by taking his baton off his belt and "extended it and . . . held it next to [his] leg." (R39:48). He used his baton to demonstrate "that this was a serious situation and that [Hanson] needed to get back into his car." (*Id.*). Klinkhammer then called for backup for the first time. (R39:48). The deputy testified that, once outside his squad car, he asked Hanson a number of times to return to his car before he complied. (*See* R39:47).

On cross-examination, Klinkhammer admitted that Hanson exited his vehicle while holding out his driver's license (R39:63-64).

Further, Klinkhammer admitted that he "didn't want to go near [Hanson]." (*Id*.:63).

Conversely, Hanson testified that it was Klinkhammer who was immediately "screaming at the top of his lungs. . . . 'Get back in the car,' really loudly and very frighteningly." (R39:206). Hanson was just trying to give Klinkhammer his license and the deputy started "screaming bloody murder" (*id*.:230-31). Hanson said that the situation was disorienting and confusing (*id*.:206-7). He thought it was unusual that he was stopped with a hand motion and not lights (*id*.:207). Second, Hanson stated that he did not believe he looked like a threat. He had his driver's license in his hand, both hands in plain view and was dressed professionally. (*Id*.).

Hanson could not remember how many times he was told to get into his vehicle before he complied. As soon as he realized that the deputy would not take his license and was angry, he got back in his car. (R39:229, 232).

Ms. Derby, the ride-along, testified that, while she could not hear anything, Klinkhammer was gesturing "get back in your car" and Hanson appeared angry and seemed to be saying "just take his driver's license." (R39:105). She did not describe Hanson as acting bizarre.

At this point, the respective accounts diverge on even basic facts. Specifically, Klinkhammer claimed that, once Hanson entered his vehicle, he had to ask two or three times before Hanson rolled down his window. (R39:50-51). Further, Hanson continued to yell and scream that the deputy had no right to stop him and that "there's no reason that he needed to give me his license." (*Id.*).

Eventually, according to Klinkhammer, Hanson "aggressively" gave him his license (R39:51). Derby testified she observed Hanson "flick his driver's license out the window. It fell to the ground." (*Id*.:106). Conversely, Hanson stated that, once he was finally able to hand over his license, the deputy took it "very gruffly" (*id*.:208).

Derby testified that while Deputy Klinkhammer was walking

back to the squad with the license, Hanson exited his vehicle a second time (R39:108). Klinkhammer originally testified to these same facts (id.:51). Later, however, he admitted that it was not until he had entered his squad and had begun writing the ticket that Hanson exited his vehicle the second time (id.:53-54).

Hanson testified that, while he wished he had not, he did exit a second time to ask why he was pulled over and other basic questions (R39:209). The deputy then immediately started screaming again at the top of his lungs, "Get back in the car." (*Id.*). Hanson said they did have a brief conversation in which Klinkhammer claimed he had been speeding, although Hanson in fact had been driving only a little over 65 and slower than several cars that had passed him. (*Id.*:209-11). Klinkhammer again showed the baton and Hanson started back to his car (*id.*:210). Klinkhammer never told him he was under arrest (*id.*:223).

Klinkhammer had a different version of events. He claimed that, once they were both out of their vehicles again, Hanson started acting "very bizarre" and was ranting (R39:51). Klinkhammer, having previously called for backup, then notified dispatch he needed help (id.:52). Klinkhammer asserted that he took out his baton for a second time only after observing Hanson's bizarre ranting (id.). The deputy claimed that Hanson's demeanor was escalating. Specifically, he was pacing back and forth faster, his arms were flailing and his voice was getting louder and louder. (R39:52).

Klinkhammer stated that he continued to order Hanson back into his car, and again called to check where his backup was because he was afraid that "this is going to go into a physical confrontation... based on my experience and [Hanson's] demeanor." (R39:53). Klinkhammer then testified that after he "continued and continued" to order Hanson into his car, he told Hanson that he was under arrest (*id*.). Klinkhammer claimed that, in response, Hanson "turned quickly and began to run back to the car." (*Id*.:54).

Derby had a different version of this encounter. As stated above,

she testified that Klinkhammer never re-entered the squad car. Rather, she said that as he was returning to the squad car Klinkhammer "turned around and again started ordering [Hanson] to get back inside his vehicle and drew his baton." (R39:108). Derby added that:

Deputy Klinkhammer drew his baton and from what it appeared to me, was continuing to order him back inside the vehicle.... And then after what seemed to be a couple of words back and forth, probably five, ten seconds worth, the driver of the red Mustang kind of turned around very abruptly and stormed back to his vehicle.

(*Id*.:109-10). Again, Derby did not describe Hanson's behavior as "bizarre."

All agreed that as Hanson approached his car, the deputy pursued him, grabbed Hanson's right shoulder and ripped his shirt (R39:54, 110). Hanson further testified that, as he was following the deputy's direction to return to his car, Klinkhammer grabbed him and struck him in the back of the head with the baton (*id*.:211).

Once in his vehicle, Hanson testified that he was really frighted and immediately called 911 (R39:212; *see* R41). He then testified that he carefully drove away from the scene of the stop and began asking the 911 operator for directions to the nearest police station (R39:212, 214). Klinkhammer admitted that he did not observe any danger or risk to other vehicles as Hanson re-entered the interstate (*id*.:78).

Klinkhammer had previously testified that he then entered his vehicle, "activated [his] lights and siren and pursued him" (R39:78 (citing the preliminary hearing transcript)). Derby agreed that the deputy then got into the squad car, turned on the emergency siren and lights, and followed the red Mustang (*id*.:113).

Hanson and Derby agreed that Hanson did not speed or drive erratically at that point (R39:113, 214-15). They also agreed that he stayed in the right hand lane (*id*.:113, 214-15). A citizen witness, Anthony Bowen, said that Hanson "did not speed and was obeying all the rules of the road and probably going under the speed limit." (R39: at 141).

Klinkhammer claimed at trial that Hanson drove in the center lane, then cut over and exited at Highway 50 (R39:56). However, his previous testimony at the preliminary hearing was consistent with Hanson's and Derby's trial testimony, i.e., that Hanson was in the right lane (R39:78-9).

During this time, Hanson repeatedly requested and received directions to a police station where "there'll be cool heads." (R39:216; R41-audo of 911 call).

There are other conflicting statements regarding Hanson's driving after exiting I-94. Klinkhammer testified for the first time on redirect that Hanson endangered a vehicle as he exited the interstate at Highway 50 (R39:87).

Derby testified that Hanson "drove his vehicle between two vehicles trying to maneuver through traffic" at the end of the off ramp (id.:113). Conversely, Klinkhammer observed no such maneuvers at the end of the ramp. Then Derby testified that Hanson would have struck a second squad car parked at the bottom of the off ramp if Hanson had not stopped, but he did and then continued to go around it (id.:116). On cross-examination, Derby admitted that she stated in her initial written statement that Hanson stopped at the bottom of the off ramp for "a minute, then drove around the squad car." (Id.:125-6). Both Klinkhammer and Hanson also testified that he stopped at the bottom of the ramp (id.:79-80, 215).

The second squad was operated by Deputy Samuel Sturino. Sturino testified that it did not appear to him that Hanson stopped at that stop light at the bottom of the ramp (R39:166). Further, Sturino claimed that he was worried that other vehicles would be struck by Hanson as he came through the intersection (*id*.:157-58).

Sturino asserted that, as he watched Hanson's vehicle drive through the intersection, Hanson "made a move like he was going to swerve and hit me." (R39:158). Accordingly, Sturino "made an evasive maneuver to the left, almost hitting another car" (id.), and claimed that there probably would have been a collision if he had not made and evasive move (id.).

Sturino then testified that the next intersection was so clogged with traffic that Hanson had to stop (R39:159). However, he also claimed that he stopped Hanson short of the intersection by pulling his squad in front of Hanson's vehicle (*id*.:158-9, 168). Conversely, Klinkhammer, Bowen, and Hanson all testified that Hanson was the first person in line at the next stoplight (*id*.:82, 147, 216-17). Klinkhammer then testified as follows:

- Q: So [Mr. Hanson] really didn't get hung up in traffic as you indicated? He again complied with the traffic light, true?
- A: Traffic was heavy but he stopped.
- Q: And he didn't stop because there was traffic blocking him. He stopped because he was the first person in line and the light was red, correct?
- A: The light was red. He stopped.

(R39:82-83).

As Hanson was stopped at the second red light, the deputies surrounded his vehicle and exited their squad with guns drawn (R39:59). Hanson was still on the phone with 911 at the time (*id*.:117, 161-64). Although the officers claimed that they ordered Hanson out of the car several times, the 911 tape does not contain any commands from the officers prior to Klinkhammer breaking Hanson's car window with his baton and pulling him from the vehicle (*id*.:117, 161-64; *see* R41).

ARGUMENT

I.

BECAUSE HE DID NOT WILLFULLY OR WANTONLY DISREGARD THE SIGNAL TO PULL OVER, HANSON DID NOT VIOLATE WIS. STAT. §346.04(3)

The issue before the Court is whether Daniel Hanson is guilty of violating Wis. Stat. §346.04(3) where it is undisputed that he left the scene of the initial traffic stop due to fear for his safety, immediately called 911 for directions to the nearest police station where "there'll be cool heads" (R41:audio of 911 call; R39:215), and was proceeding to that location to surrender himself until Deputies Klinkhammer and Sturino forcibly stopped him and broke out his window to drag him from the car (R41:audio of 911 call; R39:60-61).

As relevant here, Wis. Stat. §346.04(3) provides that

No operator of a vehicle, after having received a visual or audible signal from a traffic officer, or marked police vehicle, shall knowingly flee or attempt to elude any traffic officer by willful or wanton disregard of such signal so as to interfere with or endanger the operation of the police vehicle, or the traffic officer or other vehicles or pedestrians

Absent resulting bodily harm or property damage, violation of §346.04(3) is a Class I felony. Wis. Stat. §346.17(3).

Although phrased in terms of sufficiency of the evidence, the real question here concerns the proper construction of Wis. Stat. \$346.04(3), and more specifically the requirement that the defendant acted in "willful or wanton disregard" of a traffic officer's signal to pull over. It is that requirement that distinguishes felony eluding from misdemeanor failure to stop.¹ Hanson does not here dispute that

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. §346.04(2t)

1

No operator of a vehicle, after having received a visible or audible signal to stop his or her vehicle from a traffic officer or marked police vehicle, shall knowingly resist the traffic officer by failing

(continued...)

Klinkhammer signaled him to stop or that he failed to immediately do so.

Because the undisputed evidence demonstrated that Hanson believed in good faith that his actions were necessary to protect himself from Klinkhammer, he did not act in willful or wanton disregard of the officers' signals to stop. The evidence accordingly was insufficient as a matter of law to convict him of felony eluding under §346.04(3).

A. Applicable Legal Standards

1. Sufficiency of the Evidence

The burden in a criminal case is on the state to prove every fact necessary for conviction of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *E.g.*, *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364 (1970). "The standard for reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Rushing*, 197 Wis.2d 631, 541 N.W.2d 155, 159 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing *Jackson*, 443 U.S. at 319).

Of course, the Court "cannot affirm a criminal conviction on the basis of a theory not presented to the jury." *Chiarella v. United States*, 445 U.S. 222, 236 (1980). The Court thus can uphold a conviction only if the evidence at trial was sufficient to convict on the theory actually presented to the jury. *State v. Wulff*, 207 Wis.2d 144, 557 N.W.2d 813, 817 (1997).

Review in this case requires the application of Section 346.04(3) to the facts of this case. Determination of what the law is and application of the law to the facts present questions of law subject to independent review. *State v. Booker*, 2006 WI 79, ¶12, 292 Wis. 2d 43, 717

^{(...}continued)

to stop his or her vehicle as promptly as safety reasonably permits.

See Wis. Stat. §346.17(2t) ("Any person violating s. 346.04(2t) may be fined not more than \$10,000 or imprisoned for not more than 9 months or both").

N.W.2d 676. Also subject to independent review is the question of whether the evidence presented to the jury was sufficient to sustain its verdict. *Id.* (citation omitted).

2. Felony Eluding

Section §346.04 defines four offenses. Section 346.04(1) penalizes any simple failure to obey "any lawful order, signal or direction from a traffic officer," as a non-criminal forfeiture. *See* Wis. Stat. §346.17(1). Section 346.04(2) penalizes disobeying a traffic sign and is not relevant here. Sections 346.094(2t) and 346.17(2t) make it a misdemeanor for any driver to fail to comply with a traffic officer's directive to stop:

No operator of a vehicle, after having received a visible or audible signal to stop his or her vehicle from a traffic officer or marked police vehicle, shall knowingly resist the traffic officer by failing to stop his or her vehicle as promptly as safety reasonably permits.

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