RECEIVED

03-30-2011

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2008AP2759-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL H. HANSON,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW OF A COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION UPHOLDING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILBUR W. WARREN III PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

REBECCA RAPP ST. JOHN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1054771

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING THE PRINCIPAL'S TESTIMONY ABOUT DEPUTY KLINKHAMMER'S REPUTATION AT A SCHOOL, AND ANY ERROR IN EXCLUDING THE TESTIMONY WAS HARMLESS.

The state maintains that this court should reject Hanson's evidentiary claim without considering its merits because Hanson did not properly preserve it. *See* Argument II. The state addresses the merits of the claim in this section only as a precaution, to avoid forfeiting a merits argument should this court choose to disregard its rules and to address the claim.

1. Standard of review.

This court reviews evidentiary decisions for an erroneous exercise of discretion and upholds them if a circuit court "examined the relevant facts, applied a proper legal standard, and, using a demonstrated rational process, reached a reasonable conclusion." *State v. Campbell*, 2006 WI 99, ¶27, 294 Wis.2d 100, 718 N.W.2d 649 (citation omitted). But it independently reviews whether a circuit court applied the proper legal standard when exercising discretion. *See City of Madison v. State Dept. of Workforce Development*, 2003 WI 76, ¶10, 262 Wis.2d 652, 664 N.W.2d 584.

2. The circuit court properly ruled that Deputy Klinkhammer is not a victim under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1).

Wisconsin Stat. § 904.04(1) allows defendants to present evidence of a victim's character as circumstantial evidence of the victim's conduct at a specific time. It provides in relevant part:

(1) CHARACTER EVIDENCE GENERALLY. Evidence of a person's character or a trait of the person's character is not admissible for the purpose of proving that the person acted in conformity therewith on a particular occasion, except:

. . . .

(b) *Character of victim*. Except as provided in s. 972.11 (2), evidence of a pertinent trait of character of the victim of the crime offered by an accused, or by the prosecution to rebut the same

To understand whether Deputy Klinkhammer is a victim under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1), one must start with the three statutes at issue—Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1); the fleeing statute, Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3); and the obstruction statute, Wis. Stat. § 946.41—considering the statutes' text, structure, and context with an eye towards avoiding absurd results. *See* Argument I.B.; *Conner*, 2011 WI 8, ¶39, *quoting Kalal*, 271 Wis.2d 633, ¶46.

The victim character exception in Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1) is limited to victims, and thus, does not apply to victimless crimes. *See* 7 Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Practice Series, Wisconsin Evidence, 165-66 (3d ed. 2008) (The victim character exception in § 904.04(1) "is narrow and applies to only crime 'victims'; thus, so-called 'victimless crimes' (e.g., drug dealing) fall within the general ban against using third-parties' character as circumstantial evidence of conduct.").

Wisconsin Stat. § 904.04(1) does not define who is a victim. But consideration of the fleeing and obstruction statutes indicate that Deputy Klinkhammer is not a victim under them, or in turn, under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1).

Both the fleeing statute, Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3), and the obstruction statute, Wis. Stat. § 946.41, discuss law enforcement officers in terms of their official capacities, as public representatives giving orders that need to be followed to protect public safety and facilitate the administration of government. Wisconsin Stat. § 346.04(3) is in the "Rules of the Road" chapter of the

Wisconsin Statutes. It prohibits people from fleeing a traffic officer's signal. Wisconsin Stat. § 946.41 is in the "Interference with Law Enforcement" subchapter of the "Crimes Against Government and its Administration" chapter of the Wisconsin Statutes. It prohibits people from resisting or obstructing officers "doing any act in an official capacity and with lawful authority."

The crimes of fleeing and obstruction always involve a law enforcement officer because they proscribe disobedience to a law enforcement officer's signal or command. But a law enforcement officer is ultimately no more a victim of fleeing or obstruction than any member of the public; for both crimes occur when a law enforcement officer is acting as a public agent and giving the public's command. In this way, law enforcement officers in fleeing and obstructing incidents are similar to law enforcement officers who investigate crimes well-established to be victimless, like drug dealing. They are public agents at the forefront of enforcing laws. They witness crimes and are certainly affected by crimes. But they are not victims, so testimony about their character is not admissible under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1).

Instead of looking to the statutes at issue, Hanson turns to an entirely unrelated statute, the restitution statute, Wis. Stat. § 973.20, and a court of appeals' decision interpreting it. He relies on a restitution case, *State v. Haase*, 2006 WI App 86, 293 Wis.2d 322, 716 N.W.2d 526, and argues that "[t]he test should be that if Klinkhammer would have been awarded restitution for losses suffered as a result of Hanson's conduct, then he is a victim for the purposes of § 904.04(1)" (Hanson-Br. 26).

Hanson's reliance is misplaced.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.20 is very different than the fleeing and obstructing statutes. It is focused on personal losses rather than public interests. It does not depend on whether a party was acting in an official capacity. It

provides a way for people—victims—to be compensated for damages they incur due to crimes.

The court of appeals' decision in *Haase*, in turn, provides absolutely no guidance on whether a law enforcement officer involved in a fleeing or obstruction incident is a victim for purposes of Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1).⁵

Haase involved whether a sheriff's department could get restitution for a squad car destroyed during a chase. Haase, 293 Wis.2d 322, ¶1. The defendant led officers on a high speed car chase. *Id.* He eventually tried to elude police by driving onto a farm field and going on foot. *Id.* An officer followed the defendant onto the field and pursued him on foot. Id. ¶2. The officer's squad car burst into flames after he exited it. Id. The circuit court ordered the defendant to pay the sheriff's department restitution for the squad car. *Id.* ¶4. The court of appeals reversed. It recognized that government agencies may recover restitution. But it held that the sheriff's department could not get restitution for the squad car because the sheriff's department "was not the direct victim of Haase's criminal conduct." *Id.* ¶17.

The court of appeals in *Haase* discussed the officer as part of a fact-specific, causal analysis of the particular harm the defendant caused. It reasoned that the defendant's actions directly affected the officer rather than the sheriff's department. It distinguished cases in which defendants had directly destroyed government property such as, for example, by vandalizing it or by intentionally

⁵The *Ortiz* case Hanson cited in the circuit court is similarly inapposite. It involved whether a city could receive restitution for costs incurred during a standoff with the defendant. The court of appeals engaged in the same type of fact-specific, causal analysis of damages and harm caused as it did in *Haase*. *See State v. Ortiz*, 2001 WI App 215, ¶¶15-24, 247 Wis.2d 836, 634 N.W.2d 860. *Ortiz* does not provide any more of a basis than *Haase* does for treating Deputy Klinkhammer as a victim under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1).

crashing into a police car. *Id.* at ¶¶14, 16. It did not award the officer restitution (and thus does not provide a basis for treating Deputy Klinkhammer as a victim under Hanson's would-be-awarded-restitution test). It merely referenced the officer in discussing the chain of causation relevant to the sheriff department's restitution claim.

3. Wisconsin Stat. § 904.03 provides an alternate basis for upholding the circuit court's discretionary ruling excluding the principal's testimony.

Hanson acts as if Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1) is the end of the story. But it is not. Even if Deputy Klinkhammer were a victim under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1), the principal's testimony about his reputation at school would still have to satisfy other requirements. The circuit court would still have discretion to exclude it if it were not relevant, *see* Wis. Stat. § 904.01, or if its probative value were substantially outweighed by the dangers set forth in Wis. Stat. § 904.03.

If this court were to conclude that the circuit court erred in ruling that Deputy Klinkhammer is not a victim under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1), it would be required, as part of its discretionary review of the circuit court's evidentiary decision, to independently review the record to see if the circuit court's decision could still be upheld as a proper exercise of discretion. *See State v. Hunt*, 2003 WI 81, ¶¶43-45, 263 Wis.2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771.

Wisconsin Stat. § 904.03 is an alternate basis for upholding the circuit court's ruling. It provides:

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

To understand whether the principal's testimony could have been excluded under Wis. Stat. § 904.03, it is important to understand why Hanson wanted to admit the evidence and how Hanson could have used it.

Hanson wanted to present the principal's testimony that Deputy Klinkhammer had a reputation among staff and students at the school as "confrontational, aggressive and hot-tempered" (38:12-13). If this evidence had been admitted, Hanson could have used it to help prove that Deputy Klinkhammer "acted in conformity" with that character "on a particular occasion"—that is, to corroborate his account of Deputy Klinkhammer's actions before and during his flight. See Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1).

Hanson claims that he could have used the evidence not only to corroborate his account of what happened but also to explain "why Hanson reasonably feared for his well-being" (Hanson-Br. 23). To the extent Hanson claims that the principal's testimony could have supported his self-defense defense, beyond just corroborating his account of events, he ignores the record and settled law concerning the use of character and reputation evidence to prove that a defendant reasonably acted in self-defense.

This court held in *McMorris v. State* that "[w]hen the issue of self-defense is raised in a prosecution for assault or homicide and there is a factual basis to support such defense, the defendant may, in support of the defense, establish what the defendant believed to be the turbulent and violent character of the victim by proving prior specific instances of violence within his knowledge at the time of the incident." 58 Wis.2d 144, 152, 205 N.W.2d 559 (1973). When Hanson sought to introduce the principal's testimony regarding Deputy Klinkhammer's reputation at the school, the state objected in part because there was "no evidence that the defendant . . . knew of the character flaws" about which she would have testified Hanson's attorney responded: McMorris evidence. We're not using it for that purpose" (38:14).

Hanson cites the court of appeals' decision in *State* v. Boykins, 119 Wis.2d 272, 350 N.W.2d 710 (Ct. App. 1984), to support his claim that the principal's testimony was admissible (Hanson-Br. 25). Hanson does not develop an argument around Boykins or explain whether he is trying to use *Boykins* to argue that the principal's testimony was admissible under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1) or for additional reasons he did not present at trial. Given Hanson's lack of clarity, however, it is worth noting that Boykins does not establish that the principal's testimony would have been admissible to establish reasonableness of Hanson's beliefs and actions during the fleeing incident.

Boykins is distinguishable on its facts and for its legal holding. It did not involve an evidentiary claim but a constitutional claim involving the defendant's right to present a defense in a homicide case. The court of appeals held that the exclusion of evidence of the victim's violent character, along with exclusion of evidence of specific instances of violent conduct by the defendant, violated the defendant's right to a present a defense.

In addition to being distinguishable, *Boykins* is a court of appeals' decision, which is not binding on this court and does not trump this court's decision in McMorris. This court has never held that a defendant can present character evidence to establish the reasonableness of a self-defense defense in all types of cases and regardless of what a defendant knew. On the contrary, it has consistently discussed *McMorris* evidence in terms of specific instances of conduct about which a defendant knew before allegedly acting in self-defense. See State v. Head, 2002 WI 99, ¶128, 255 Wis.2d 194, 648 N.W.2d 413; State v. Daniels, 160 Wis.2d 85, 465 N.W.2d 633 (1991); McAllister v. State, 74 Wis.2d 246, 246 N.W.2d 511 (1976). This is reflected in a distinction Daniel Blinka draws in his evidence treatise between "McMorris evidence (specific instances of the victim's violence known to defendant at the time)" and "reputation or opinion testimony as to the victim's character for violence offered to show the victim's violent propensities (i.e. circumstantial evidence of conduct)." Blinka at 168.

Based on the case law and Hanson's own representations to the circuit court, therefore, Hanson could only use the evidence to corroborate his account of what happened.

Here is where Wis. Stat. § 904.03 kicks in.

The principal's testimony about Deputy Klinkhammer's reputation at the school had little if any probative value. The principal had no knowledge of what happened during the stop or Hanson's flight. She could only relay what some people thought of Deputy Klinkhammer in a school environment considerably different than the circumstances of a traffic stop on I-94.

What little, if any, probative value the principal's testimony would have had was countered by the considerations in Wis. Stat. § 904.03. The principal's testimony may have confused jurors given how different of a situation it involved. Moreover, the principal's testimony was repetitive of other, more powerful evidence for Hanson. Hanson described Deputy Klinkhammer in light principal would have—as the same the confrontational, aggressive, and hot-tempered (39:203-39). Hanson corroborated his testimony by having four witnesses testify about his own truthfulness (39:192-202). His account was also corroborated somewhat by the 911 call, in which he sounded panicked and described Deputy Klinkhammer as an "angry person" who "does not value life" and who had "beaten him" (41:Ex. 6).

Even if the principal's testimony had been admissible under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(1), therefore, the circuit court would have been well within its discretion to exclude the evidence based on Wis. Stat. § 904.03. Wisconsin Stat. § 904.03 thus provides an alternate basis for this court to uphold the circuit court's ruling excluding the principal's testimony, one this court would be required

to consider given its duty to independently review the record before reversing discretionary evidentiary decisions.

4. Any error in excluding the principal's testimony was harmless.

There is yet another fatal hurdle to Hanson's evidentiary claim: even if the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by excluding the principal's testimony, Hanson would not be entitled to relief because any error was harmless.

Errors are harmless, and do not provide a basis for relief, if it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty even absent them. *See* Wis. Stat. § 805.18(1) ("The court shall, in every stage of an action, disregard any error or defect in the pleadings or proceedings which shall not affect the substantial rights of the adverse party."); *State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶46, 254 Wis.2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189, *quoting Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 18 (1999).

If the circuit court had erred by excluding the principal's testimony, the error would clearly be harmless.

As the state explains above in connection with Wis. Stat. § 904.03, the principal's testimony about how some people perceived Deputy Klinkhammer in a school setting said little if anything about how Deputy Klinkhammer acted when stopping someone on I-94. It would have added little to the mix of what Hanson presented about what happened, about Deputy Klinkhammer's actions during the stop, and about his own credibility. Further, it certainly would not have overcome all of the other evidence presented at Hanson's trial—evidence that included not only Deputy Klinkhammer's testimony but also the 911 call as well as the testimony of Deputy Sturino, Randi Derby, and Anthony Bowen.

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